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various leasehold interests that Flightlevel and

its related entities held at Norwood Airport?

A. It was far too complicated for me.

That's why I sought outside counsel to look at
those.

Q. 2nd so you got independent legal advice
regarding the structure of the real estate
agreements that were in place at Norwood Airport?
Is that fair to say?

A. I received advice, yes.

MR. HARTZELL:
not to disclose what the advice was.
MR. FEE:
not to step on that privilege and, obviously, if

I just caution the witness

I'm trying to be very careful

I do, please let me know.
BY MR. FEE:

Q. Did you have any meetings or interactions
with Mr. Kassap, Harry Kassap or Sigmund Kassap,
during the due diligence process?

A. No, I did not.

Q. At what point did you realize Harry and
Sigmund Kassap held an ownership interest in
FlightLevel Norwood?

A. I was told that there was a Kassap

partnership. I did not know how many people were
involved in the partnership.

Q. Did you know them previously?

A. Never heard of them.

Q. COkay.
anyone regarding acquiring an interest in the
other Flightlevel entities? In other words, not
just FlightLevel Norwood, LIC.

A. Yes.

Q. And what other FlightLevel entities did

you discuss potential acquisition?

Did you have any discussions with

A. I thought the business was interesting
and wanted to know how I could invest in all the
FlightLevel companies.

Q. And did you ultimately invest in other
FlightLevel companies other than FlightLevel
Norwood?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Are you currently in discussions to
acquire an interest in other FlightLevel
companies?

A. Not at this time.

Q. Have you had any -- can you describe for

me any discussions that you've had with either
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Mr. Eichleay or Mr. Burlingham regarding

acquiring an interest in other FlightLevel
entities?

A. I thought I would like to be involved, in
a more streamlined basis, with Peter and have an
investment in all his companies.

Q. 2and those discussions are ongoing?

A. No.

Q. Was there a broker involved in your
acquisition of FlightLevel Norwood?

MR. HARTZELL:

BY MR. FEE:

Q. You can answer.

A. You mean like in Wall Street? An

Objection.

investment banker?

Q. Like a business broker or --

A. No.

Q. Other than the numbers that you reviewed,
did Flightlevel provide you with any other
information regarding its operations? Did it
provide you with a business plan or other
nonnumeric information regarding their business?

A. I was aware of the complication of it,
but I had the numbers, I asked multiple

- - Page 25
questions, did my own analysis, saw what was
going on in other airports, saw what they were
being sold at to make my analysis.

Would you refer to that question again?
I want to answer your question.

Q. I want to know if they gave you any other
written documentation other than the financial
statements and P&L and budgets and financial
Did they
provide you any nonfinancial information
regarding FlightLevel Norwood, LLC?

A. Written? No.

Q. Okay. Did you discuss -- and again, I'm
focusing on this time between the execution of
the LOI in September of 2016 and the closing,
which was in December of 2016. In that
three-month window, did you have any discussions

information that they provided to you?

with any representative of FlightLevel Norwood
regarding Boston Executive Helicopters?
A. Yes.
Q. Can you tell me what was said to you and
what you said to them?
MR. HARTZELL:
to the extent any information was given to you by

I just caution the witness
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1 any lawyer, that's privileged. But other than | 1 Mr. Burlingham, Mr. Eichleay, and my attorney,
2 that, you can answer the question. 2 and the further comments were made between my
3 MR. FEE: Wait a minute. I mean, if the | 3 attorney, my personal attorney, and myself.
4 lawyer was representing FlightLevel Norwood, I | 4 BY MR. FEE:
5 don't think a privilege applies. So -- 5 Q. Okay. Did you have a written agreement
6 MR. HARTZELL: But if the lawyer was 6 with Mr. Burlingham regarding the joint
7 representing FlightLevel Norwood and 7 representation of you in the transaction?
8 Mr. Radlo's -- or ARR Aviation or Mr. Radlo, that | 8 A. To the best of my knowledge, I signed
9 then would apply. 9 some conflict of interest form that he was going
10 BY MR. FEE: 10 to represent both parties.
11 Q. Let's break it down. Did you have 11 Q. Okay. As part of your due diligence --
12  discussions with Mr. Eichleay regarding BEH 12 and, again, I'm focusing on this time frame
13  during this time frame? | 13  between September of 2016 and the end of
14 A. Yes. 14 December -- did you have any discussions with any
15 Q. And what did he say to you and what did |15 representative of the Norwood Airport Commission?
16 you say to him? | 16 A. Never. Not one person of the Norwood
17 MR. HARTZELL: Again, I caution the 17 Airport Commission.
18 witness. If those conversations took place with |18 Q. Did you have any discussions with the
19 a lawyer present, that's probably privileged. 19 Norwood Airport manager?
20 But if they took place separately with 20 A. I didn't even know his name.
21 Mr. Eichleay, you can disclose those. You can |21 Q. Did you have any discussions with anyone
22  talk about those. |22 at the FAR?
23 A. There were references made to me by 23 A. No.
24  Mr. Eichleay that there was a lawsuit between BEH | 24 Q. Did you have any discussions with anyone
i - Page 27 | = ~ Page 29
1 and the airport and, basically, I shouldn't be 1 at the Mass. Department of Transportation?
2 concerned about it. The lawyers were handling | 2 A. No, I did not.
3  the situation. 3 Q. Did you think it was unimportant to have
4 And I did not get involved in it. It was | 4 discussions with these individuals prior to
5 far too complicated for me to understand | 5 investing money in FlightLevel Norwood?
6 everything that was going on. That is when my 6 A. I was going on the advice of my personal
7  attorneys were brought into the situation, my 7 counsel and also taking the advice of my now
8 personal attornmeys, to meet with Mr. Eichleay and | 8 internal counsel, Mr. Burlingham.
9 Mr. Burlingham to provide information with what | 9 Q. Okay. But you thought it was not
10 was going on. | 10 necessary to have discussion with either the
11 BY MR. FEE: |11  Norwood Airport Commission or the Norwood Airport
12 Q. And what other information was provided |12 manager regarding acquisition of an interest in
13  as a result of those other parties becoming 13  Flightlevel?
14  involved? 14 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. You can
15 MR. HARTZELL: Again, Mr. Radlo, I just |15 answer.
16 caution you. If the answer to that question ‘ 16 A. What was represented to me by my --
17 would involve communications between you and 17 MR. HARTZELL: Don't talk about -- I
18 either your personal lawyer or Mr. Burlingham, i 18 caution the witness. Don't talk about
19 it's privileged. 19 communications from your lawyer.
20 But if you have an independent -- if 20 BY MR. FEE:
21  there's an independent source of that information |21 Q. I think I'm asking you a different
22 or the information came from Mr. Eichleay, you | 22 question. I'm just asking you personally. Did
23  can answer the question. ‘ 23 you feel it was not necessary for you to do that
24 A. My information was during a meeting with |24 level of due diligence prior to closing on the
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1 acquisition of FlightLevel Norwood? And by that | 1 owner of the ARR Aviation, LLC. Is that fair to
2 level of due diligence, I mean talking to the i 2  say?
3  airport manager or talking to the members of the 3 A. Xes.
4 airport commission. | 4 Q. BAnd on the second page, it indicates that
5 A. I believe I talked to people that I 5 the contact information for the filing is
& respected and were giving me the right advice 6 Mr. Burlingham. Do you see that?
7 [andi== 7 A. Yes, I do.
8 MR. HARTZELL: Do not disclose 8 Q. Did you instruct Mr. Burlingham to file
9 commmnications with your lawyers. I caution you 9 this on your behalf?
10 with that. 10 MR. HARTZELL: Wait. Mr. Radlo, if you
11 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 11 had commmnications with Mr. Burlingham about this
12 BY MR. FEE: 12 document, those are privileged. So I would
13 Q. Okay. So when you were analyzing the |13 caution the witness not to disclose
14  numbers, you became aware that FlightLevel had 14 communications between you and your counsel.
15 significant debt. Is that fair to say? 15 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
16 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 16 BY MR. FEE:
17 BY MR. FEE: 17 Q. Let me rephrase. You say you've never
18 Q. You can answer. 18 seen this before.
19 A. Not by my analysis and companies I've 19 A. I have a tax ID number, which is the only
20 studied. 20 thing that I received.
21 Q. So you felt that their debt-to-equity 21 Q. But the answer to my question: Have you
22 ratio was sufficient for you to consider a large |22 ever seen this before is --
23  investment? 23 A. I don't believe I've seen this thing
24 A. On the cash -- 24  because I never saw something that said that
Page 31 o Page 33
1 MR. HARTZELL: Slow down. Objection. 1 something has been administratively dissolved.
2  You can answer. 2 So I don't know what's going on here.
3 A. On the cash flow estimate side I was 3 Q. I'll show you an exhibit that's been
4 projecting, yes. 4 marked as 5%94. The same question: Have you ever
5 BY MR. FEE: 5 seen this before?
6 Q. Okay. Do you know if any of the 6 A. No, I have not.
7 FlightLevel debt that was in existence prior to 7 Q. Okay. So during the due diligence phase,
8 your acquisition of an interest in FlightLevel 8 did you review drafts of documents that were
9 Norwood was discharged as part of that 9 going to memorialize the transaction?
10 transaction? |10 A. My counsel and Peter Eichleay were
11 A. Yes, it was. I 11 representing me.
12 Q. I'm going to show you 593, which appears |12 Q. Okay.
13  to be a Certificate of Good Standing for ARR 13 MR. HARTZELL: 5957
14 Aviation, Roman numeral -- I'm sorry. Can I see |14 MR. FEE: 595.
15 which one I've given you -- Aviation, LIC. ' 15 BY MR. FEE:
16 And I just draw your attention to the 16 Q. Have you seen 595 before?
17 fact that the document, which is four pages -- 17 A. I can't recall seeing this. No.
18 strike that. 18 Q. Let me turn your attention to page 28.
19 Do you know who filed this on your 19 Is that your signature?
20 behalf? 20 A. PRbsolutely.
21 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. | 21 Q. Okay. And did you recall, prior to
22 A. I never saw this document so I don't. 22 executing -- I'm sorry.
23 BY MR. FEE: | 23 Did you sign this on or about
24 Q. But you are the sole manager and member 24 December 31, 20162
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A. I would imagine it was before because 1
that's when the corporations were formed. 2
Q. Right. Well, do you have any 3
recollection of when you signed it? 4
A. It was probably somewhere in December, I 5
would imagine. 6
Q. Okay. So prior to signing the document, 7

in or about December of 2016, had you reviewed 8
drafts prior to signing the document? 9
A. I believe I saw drafts, but they were 10
just from my business purposes. It was far too 11
extensive for me to have an understanding of |12
everything that was involved in the leases that 13
were involved and pecople that were involved and | 14
everything that was involved. Particularly -- i 15
MR. HARTZELL: I just caution the 16
witness. I believe the question just asked you 17
was, "Had you seen a draft?" 18

A. Yes. 19

MR. HARTZELL: That's all the question i20

asked. ! 21
THE WITNESS: Thank you, sir. | 22

BY MR. FEE: | 23
Q. And the answer is you can't remember 24

- - Page 35 |

seeing a draft or -- I wasn't sure what your 1
answer was. 2
A. I'm sure I saw a draft. 3

Q. Okay. BAnd can you describe in your own | 4
words what your understanding of the nature of 5
this transaction was? 6
A. Yes. The investment companies that I was | 7
the sole holder of were investing in a master 8
lease that FlightLevel had with the Norwood 9
Airport Commission. ‘ 10
Q. And as part of that, you agreed and the 11
entities that you controlled agreed to give 12

promissory notes to the sellers; is that correct? |13
A. I'm figuring out the transaction. Yes. 14
Q. And also as part of that transaction, you | 15

placed a certain amount of cash in escrow; is 16
that correct? 17
A. I don't know the -- all the complexities 18

of the closings but, yes, I put up cash and -- 19
Q. BHow much cash did you put up? ‘ 20

MR. HARTZELL: Objection. Pursuant to (21

the order from the court, anything having to do 22
with numbers is confidential and you don't have 23
to disclose that. 24

Page 36
MR. FEE: That's a misstatement regarding

the order, and I'm going to ask the question and
if you want to instruct him not to answer, that's
fine. But for our purposes, my understanding of
the order is that you were allowed to redact
information regarding numbers and percentages
from the documents tc be produced.

There's no restriction on the questions
that I can ask him at deposition, and I'm going
to ask him.
to answer, that's fine and we can deal with that

And if you want to instruct him not

with Judge Connors on another date.

MR. HARTZELL: I will state for the
record that the concept that numbers and
documents are confidential but then you can ask
the witness the numbers at a deposition makes no
sense to me. So it's all confidential.

Any questions about numbers, I'll
instruct you not to answer, but go ahead. Ask
the questions, and I'll instruct you not to
answer.

MR. FEE: That's fine.

BY MR. FEE:
Q. How much cash did you put up?

Page 37
I believe this

is covered by the confidentiality order from the

MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
court, and I instruct the witness not to answer.
MR. FEE: Just to be clear, there's an
order on your motion to quash and there is no
confidential agreement that's been executed. So
would you care to be more specific about what
confidentiality agreement you're talking about?
MR. HARTZELL: I'm not talking about a
confidentiality agreement. I'm talking about the
order from the court. The numbers having to do
with this transaction are confidential and,
therefore, we're not disclosing them.
MR. FEE: Okay.
MR. HARTZELL: Whether in writing or
orally.
BY MR. FEE:
Q. Let's turn your attention to page 2 of
the document.

A. Yes.

Q. 1It's Radlo08 on the bottom.

A. Yes. Correct.

Q. So in the middle of the page it says:

"Exhibit 2.2, Form of Promissory Note to
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1 KI ($1,930,500)." 1 communications between counsel.
2 And then "Exhibit 2.2(c), Form of 2 THE WITNESS: I'm not going to.
3 Promissory note Form to FIG, ($19,500)". 3 A. Mr. Burlingham handled all this for me.
4 Do you see that? 4 BY MR. FEE:
5 A. Yes. I see that. 5 Q. Understood. But as you sit here today --
6 Q. Does that comport with your recollection 6 and your counsel is absolutely correct to caution
7 of the amount of debt that you agreed to take on 7 you not to answer any questions about what you
8 as part of this transaction? 8 may have been told by an attorney that's
9 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. Can we go off 9 representing you in the transaction.
10 the record for a second? Can I consult with him |10 My question is: As you sit here today,
11 for a second, please? 11 do you have any recollection or understanding as
12 MR. FEE: Sure. 12 to what this paragraph 2.2 is referring to?
13 (Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.) 13 A. I just see the word "compensation,® sir.
14 {Deposition resumed at 2:46 p.m.) 14 Q. Right. But you don't have any
15 MR. HARTZELL: Back on the record. It 15 recollection or understanding of what that
16 appears that there may have been a mistake in the |16 referred to?
17 redaction on page -- 17 A. 1It's under "sale and transfer" so I'm --
18 MR. FEE: Radlo08. 18 it must be at least a first cousin to it or
19 MR. HARTZELL: -- Radlo08, which is the 19 something.
20 second page of Exhibit 595. We're still going to |20 Q. So you don't know if this is talking
21 keep that information as confidential, and the 21 about compensation being paid to the purchasers,
22 witness is going to be instructed not to answer 22 or compensation being paid to Mr. Eichleay, or
23 any questions about it. 23 compensation being paid to you? You just don't
24 MR. FEE: Okay. I will cite waiver and 24  know?
Page 39 Page 41
1 we'll deal with it later. 1 A. That's correct.
2 BY MR. FEE: 2 Q. Okay. Now, as is commcn in deals of this
3 Q. Sir, turning your attention to RadlolO. 3  type, I'm told, on Radlol4, there's a
4 A. Okay. 4 paragraph 2.5 that talks about adjustment amount
5 Q. Now, in part two of the summary or table 5 and payment and on the following page, 2.6,
6 of contents of this document, Roman numerals V, 6 describes an adjustment procedure.
7 VI, and VII list of broad variety of documents, 7 aAnd, again, without asking you about any
8 and it goes onto the following page to 8 numbers, can you describe your understanding, if
9 miscellaneous, Roman numeral IX. Do you know if 9 any, of what adjustments to the purchase price
10 these documents exist? 10 were being made and what the criteria were for an
11 A. No, I do not. 11  adjustment?
12 MR. FEE: I just note for the record that |12 A. I was buying a company. I wasn't buying
13 they weren't produced and I'll be seeking them as |13 assets. And the purchase price of the
14  well. 14 corporation was based on certain assets involved
15 BY MR. FEE: 15 in the transfer.
16 Q. Turning your attention to Radlol2. 16 Q. Right.
17 A. Yes. 17 A. And I'm sure there were things that were
18 Q. There's a paragraph that's been redacted |18 involved in here that had to do with the balance
19 &nd it says "2.2 Compensation." Without asking 19 sheet I was inheriting, what would be credited
20 numbers, can you tell me who was paying 20 and what would be debited and the like towards
21 compensation to whom pursuant to this part of the |21 the purchase price.
22  transaction? 22 Q. Do you know if there was any adjustment
23 A. My counsel, Mr. Burlingham, was -- 23 contingency based on outstanding litigation with
24 MR. HARTZELL: Do not disclose 24 Boston Executive Helicopters?
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1 A. I can answer that if you -- 1 A. Yes, sir.
2 Q. I didn't ask you about what your lawyer . 2 Q. Just to confirm my understanding that
3 told you so -- ; 3 FlightLevel Norwood, LLC, is currently the
4 MR. HARTZELL: Hold on a second. Can we 4 100 percent owner and beneficiary of EAC Realty
5 go off the record for a second? 5 Trust, EAC Realty Trust II, S&T Realty Trust of
6 (Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.) 6 Norwood, and EAC Realty Trust IV. Is that your
7 (Deposition resumed at 2:52 p.m.) 7 understanding?
8 MR. HARTZELL: Could you repeat your 8 A. That's what it says here, but it's too
9 question? 9 complicated for me. There's a lot of companies
10 BY MR. FEE: 10 under it.
11 Q. Sure. Without asking you about any 11 Q. Okay. And you're relying on others to
12 numbers, do you have any understanding of what 12 make sure that your interests are --
13  the adjustments to purchase price were and what 13 A. That is correct.
14 criteria were used to determine whether an 14 Q. -- are represented well. Okay.
15 adjustment would be made? 15 I'mon 319 -- I'm sorry. Radlo22.
16 A. I would answer the same way as I prior 16 A. Okay. Yes, sir.
17 did, in that I can't tell you exactly what was ‘ 17 Q. And it talks about the environmental due
18 there but in buying a company, there were going 3 18 diligence that was done. Did you have any -- I'm
19 to be adjustments made for what fuel might be 19  sorry.
20 left in the tank, what receivables might be bad. | 20 Did you read any Phase I site assessments
21 There were just monetary type of adjustments that 121  that were done on Flightlevel property for this
22 were to be managed. | 22  transaction?
23 I can't tell you specifically the 23 A. I had a study conducted for me.
24 specific accounts payables or bad debt expenses 24 Q. Yes. BAnd did you review it?
- Page 43 o ~ Page45s
1 or whatever. 1 A. No. I was told it passed.
2 Q. Right. | 2 Q. Okay. And did you know -- do you know
3 A. That's the adjustments that I was led to 3 who performed that study?
4  Dbelieve were involved in that right there. 4 A. No. I just paid the bill.
5 Q. Were there any adjustments provided for 5 Q. Okay.
6 with respect to the outcome of litigation between | 6 A. I asked for it to be done.
7 FlightLevel Norwood, LLC, and Boston Executive 7 Q. Radlo30.
8 Helicopters? 8 A. Yes.
9 A. In addressing that, I would address it 9 Q. It talks about -- paragraph 9 at the
10 the same way as -- I was a knowledgeable buyer 10 bottom talks about the seller's obligations after
11 and I bought the company, not the assets. 11 closing to ensure Lot 5 lease extension and Lot 6
12 Therefore, I assumed in the purchase any 12 and Lot 7 lease extension. Do you see that?
13 liabilities that might come with the purchase of @ 13 A. Under 9?
14 the corporation and not the assets. | 14 Q. Yes.
15 Q. And my question was whether or not, if 15 A. 9.1 you mean?
16 you remember, were there any adjustments ‘ 16 Q. Right.
17 discussed in this portion of the purchase 17 A. To the best of my recollection, I believe
18 agreement that dealt with Boston Executive ‘ 18 there was something going on with leases at that
19 Helicopters and any potential adverse results of 19 time.
20 litigation with Boston Executive Helicopters? 20 Q. Right. And to your knowledge have
21 A. None. 21 those --
22 Q. OCkay. I'mon 17 now. 22 A. Yes. I think --
23 A. Ckay. 23 MR. HARTZELL: Hold on.
24 Q. Just a technical question now. 24
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1 BY MR. FEE: 1 A. Companies I have an investment invested
2 Q. -- contingencies been fulfilled? I 2 in the lease. I wasn't sure that the lease was
3 MR. HARTZELL: Hold on. I caution the 3  changing.
4 witness to please wait until he finishes his 4 BY MR. FEE:
5 gquestion. 5 Q. I framed the question badly. What is
6 BY MR. FEE: ‘ 6 your understanding of whether or not any
7 Q. To your knowledge have those ' 7  third-party consents to leases were required in
8 contingencies been fulfilled? 8 connection with this transaction?
9 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 9 A. From what my counsel told me --
10 BY MR. FEE: 10 MR. HARTZELL: What your counsel told you
11 Q. That are set forth in 91 and 92. [11  is privileged.
12 A. Rgain, there's so many leases here, as 12 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
13  the prior page. I believe they were met. ‘ 13 BY MR. FEE:
14 Q. Okay. Are there any outstanding 14 Q. You can answer this yes or no. Did you
15 purchaser obligations that exist now? '15  have an understanding as to whether or not third
16 A. None. 16 parties would be required to consent to your --
17 Q. How about seller obligations? (17 I'm sorry -- ARR or ARR II's acquisition of a
18 A. None. |18  membership interest in FlightLevel Norwood, LLC?
19 Q. Other than the promissory note -- 19 A. I asked the question.
20 A. Excuse me. Is that what you mean? 20 Q. You asked the question and you were
21 Q. Right. | 21 provided information in response to that
22 A. That's an obligation. I apologize. Yes. 22 question. Is that fair to say?
23 I have a -- you pointed to something and I don't | 23 A. Yes.
24 know -- 24 Q. Okay. 2and is there any reason -- do you
o o Pa’geftﬁf‘ o ‘Page 49
1 MR. HARTZELL: That's ckay. You can |1 know if any third-party consents were given prior
2 answer that question. 2 to the closing of the transaction?
3 A. Yes. I have an obligation to the 3 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
4 sellers. 4 A. No.
5 BY MR. FEE: | s BY MR. FEE:
6 Q. And did you take on additional financing € Q. Do you know if third-party consents were
7 or did ARR or ARR II take on financing for the 7 obtained after the transaction?
8 purposes of this transaction? 8 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
9 A. No. 9 A. No.
10 Q. Okay. Do you know the reason why you 10 BY MR. FEE:
11 agreed that -- strike that. 11 Q. You have no idea or no knowledge, as you
12 Were any of the documents that were |12  sit here today, whether third-party consents to
13  signed as part of the transaction -- strike that. 13 lease arrangements to which FlightLevel Norwood
14 Do you know if the consent of any third |14 was a party were obtained. Is that fair to say?
15 parties were necessary in connection with the 15 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. You can
16 acquisition of a membership interest in | 16 answer.
17 FlightLevel Norwood by ARR and ARR II? | 17 A. My counsel was asked by me --
18 A. Not that I was aware of. 18 MR. HARTZELL: Again, don't disclose
19 Q. Were you ever under the -- were you ever |19 communications between you and counsel.
20 informed that leases to which FlightLevel 20 A. I was given advice by my counsel.
21 Norwood, LLC, or its successors was a party | 21 MR. HARTZELL: Don't disclose the advice.
22 required the consent of either the Norwood 22 BY MR. FEE:
23 Airport Commission or BMA? Do you know that? 23 Q. I think my question was different. T
24 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. |24  think I asked you: Do you have any knowledge, as
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1 you sit here today, whether third-party consents 1 There's a reference to Blue Hills Bank. Do you
2 required under leases to which Flightlevel 2 see that?
3 Norwood is a party were obtained? I think that's | 3 A. Yes. I see Blue Hills Bank.
4 the question I asked. 4 Q. Do you know if FlightLevel Norwood still
5 A. No. 5 has debt with Blue Hills Bank?
6 Q. Okay. I'm on "Encumbrances." Radlo40. 6 A. I haven't seen it on the balance sheet.
7 A. One moment. 7 Q. Who handles the finances for FlightlLevel
8 Q. Sure. Take your time. 8 Norwood currently?
9 A. Yes. 9 A. Peter and Mike.
10 Q. It says "Original acquisition of EAF by 10 Q. Do you have --
11 FlightLevel.” 11 A. Mike DeLaria.
12 Do you know what EAF stands for? 12 Q. Do you have any role in handling the
13 A. Where is this, sir? 13 day-to-day financials of the company?
14 Q. Bottom. Schedule 3.3. 14 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
15 A. Yes. I see it now. No. 15 A. I don't even have signing ability.
16 Q. Now, the next page, 30, lists a variety 16 BY MR. FEE:
17 of -- or several mortgages as well as a 17 Q. Okay.
18 guarantee. And I asked you earlier whether it 18 A. I think I have signing ability. I don't
19 was your understanding that existing debt was 19 have bank signing ability.
20 discharged as part of this transaction, and you 20 Q. What role do you play in the day-to-day
21 said you thought that the answer to that was yes. |21 operations of Flightlevel Norwood, LLC?
22  Correct? 22 A. Capital expenditures and strategy, and
23 A. I assumed it was discharged or I wouldn't |23 that's it.
24 have been able to buy the company. 24 Q. 2nd how often do you meet or talk with
Page 51 Page 53|
1 Q. And do you know how that debt was 1 Mr. Eichleay or Mr. Delaria regarding your role
2 discharged? 2  in the company?
3 A. I made a cash payment. 3 A. Past nine weeks, probably three or four
4 Q. So in addition to the amount that was 4 times in total; and prior to that, one visit a
5 placed in escrow, you also made an additional 5 week or one call a week. So it's not extensive.
6 cash payment to FlightLevel that they used to 6 Q. And I'mon 51 now. In Schedule 3.15
7 discharge existing debt. Is that fair to say? 7 there's a description of actual or threatened
8 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 8 claims, orders, or proceedings. Do you see that?
9 MR. FEE: I can state that another way. 9 A. Yes, I do.
10 BY MR. FEE: 10 Q. And one of the items listed is litigation
11 Q. In addition to the cash that you placed 11 commenced by the company against Moshe Yanai. Do
12 in escrow as part of this transacticn, you paid 12 you see that?
13 additional money which Flightlevel Norwood 13 A. Yes, I do.
14 utilized to discharge existing debt. Is that 14 Q. Do you know who Mr. Yanai is?
15 fair to say? 15 A. Yes. I had a -- yes.
16 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 16 Q. Have you spoken to him before?
17 A. I put cash in escrow to release the debt |17 A. Yes, I have, and I've written to him.
18 that was on the company. 18 Q. So what, if anything, did FlightLevel
19 BY MR. FEE: 19 Norwood disclose to you regarding the litigation
20 Q. Do you know if the debtholders that held |20 against Mr. Yanai?
21 mortgages on FlightLevel assets, as of the date 21 MR. HARTZELL: Again, just caution the
22 of the transaction, have provided discharges? 22 witness. If that information came from the
23 A. I have no idea. 23 lawyers, it's privileged. If it came separately
24 Q. Turning your attention now to 45. 24 from Mr. Eichleay, that information or that
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1 communication between you and Mr. Eichleay, if it 1 Q. And how did you -- how, if at all, did
2 was just between the two of you, would not be | 2 you quantify those liabilities vis-a-vis Boston

3  privileged. 3  Executive Helicopters?

4 But if the other people were present -- 4 A. Private counsel advised me what their
5 if the lawyers were present, then it's 5 opinion was.

6 privileged. 6 Q. Ckay.

7 A. There were conversations between myself 7 (Exhibit No. 596 marked for
8 and Mr. Eichleay. 8 identification.)

9 BY MR. FEE: 9 BY MR. FEE:

10 Q. What did he tell you about the suit 10 Q. I'm going to show you what's been marked
11  against Mr. Yanai? 11 as Exhibit 596. And, again, not inquiring as to
12 A. That it is a very complicated suit but, 12 any numbers or percentages. At the bottom of

13 briefly, that there was a suit because there was |13 this document, which was executed presumably in
14  some snow dumped onto a fuel tank and then there 14 connection with the acquisition by your companies
15 were some barriers that were dumped over. And | 15 of an interest in FlightLevel Norwood, LIC,

16 that's why BEH was being sued for doing that to 16 there's a document that was titled "Limited

17  us. 17 Liability Company Resolution."

18 Q. Did you know that BEH has counterclaimed | 18 And halfway down -- sorry -- at the

19 against FlightLevel for meonopolization of the 19 bottom of the page and for the entire next top of
20 Norwood Airport? 20 the page on page 2, there's a redacted paragraph
21 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 21 that's entitled "Loan Transaction." Do you see
22 BY MR. FEE: 22 that?

23 Q. Do you know that today? 23 A. Yes, I do.

24 A. Yes. 24 Q. Now, again, without disclosing any

I Page 55| ~ Page57

1 Q. Okay. And did you know that at the time 1 amounts, can you describe for me, in as

2 that you entered into this purchase agreement? 2 comprehensive terms as possible, what your

3 A. I thought it was against the town, not 3 understanding, as you sit here today, is of the

4 against us. I thought there was a federal suit 4 loan transaction described in this document?

5 that involved FlightLevel and the town. 5 A. I do not know whether it's the loan that

6 Q. Okay. FHow many lawsuits do you think 6 I paid off or the referred-to prior note I was

7 there are between FlightLevel and BEH? 7 receiving.

8 A. There was one with the town -- 8 Q. So stepping away from the document now,

9 FlightLevel and BEH? | 9 just tell me, in your best understanding, what
10 Q. Yes. 10 loan transactions took place in connection with
131 A. I think there's our suit against them and 11 the transaction that we have been talking about.
12 their suit against us. 12 A. As you're aware, there was a debt
13 Q. Is 2RR indemnified for any adverse 13 transfer that occurred and there was also a debt
14 results of those litigations? 14 payment that was made. So I don't know which
15 A. No. 15 that refers to.

16 Q. It's your understanding that ARR Aviation 16 Q. So other than the promissory notes that
17 and ARR Aviation II, LIC, are not indemnified by 17 we discussed from you or from ARR to the

18 FlightLevel Norwood or the sellers under this 18 sellers --

19 transaction for an adverse judgment as a result | 19 A. Yes.

20 of litigation between FlightLevel Norwood, LLC, i20 Q. -- and the payoff of the existing debt --
21 and BEH? 21 A. Yes.

22 A. I bought a company. I didn't buy the 122 Q. -- was there any other loan transaction
23  assets. Therefore, you buy a company, you take 23 that was entered into as part of this acgquisition
24  on those responsibilities. 24 of a membership interest in --
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1 A. Not by me. 1 A. I own 100 percent of the stock.
2 Q. Anybody else? 2 BY MR. FEE:
3 A. I cannot answer that. | 3 Q. Does anyone else hold any ownership
4 Q. Okay. ! 4 interest in FlightLevel Norwood, LLC?
5 (Exhibit No. 597 marked for 5 A. No.
6 identification.) 6 Q. Okay.
7 BY MR. FEE: i MR, HARTZELL: Off the record for a
8 Q. Mr. Radlo, I'm showing you Exhibit 597. ‘ 8 second.
9 It appears to be the limited liability operating 9 (Discussion off the record.)
10 agreement for FlightLevel Norwood dated 2007. 10 THE WITNESS: Can I ask you a question?
i A. Yes. |11 MR. HARTZELL: Not in front of counsel.
12 Q. Have you seen that before? : 12 (Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.)
13 A. There's such a litany of papers. It's | 13 (Deposition resumed at 3:15 p.m.)
14 quite possible. It's quite possible I didn't. 14 BY MR. FEE:
15 This is a lot of paperwork. 15 Q. As part of the due diligence process, I
16 Q. I'm not trying to overwhelm you with 16 know that you said you had never met with any
17 paper. My question is: If you have a ' 17 representative of the Norwood Airport Commission
18 recollection of seeing it before, I'd like to ask |18 or the Norwood Airport manager, but do you know
19 you about it. If you don't, that's fine too. 19 if your attorney did?
20 A. I cannot honestly say yes or no to having | 20 A. My private attorney did not.
21 seen this. | 21 Q. Do you know if anyone acting on your
22 Q. Fair enough. 1I'll take it back. 122 behalf met with any member of the Norwood Airport
23 A. Thank you. ‘ 23 Commission or any representative of the town of
24 24  Norwood?
o Page 59 | B Page 61
1 (Exhibit No. 598 marked for 1 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. What time
2 identification.) ‘ 2 frame?
3 BY MR. FEE: 3 MR. FEE: I'm talking prior to the
4 Q. Mr. Radlo, I'm going to show you Exhibit 4 acquisition.
5 598, which is a document that was executed in 5 A. I have no definitive knowledge.
6 connection with this transaction, and I just want : 6 BY MR. FEE:
7 to ask you a few questions about it. Is that | 7 Q. Other than your attorney, was there
8  your signature on the second page? 8 anyone else conducting due diligence analysis on
9 A. Absolutely. 9 your behalf?
10 Q. And, sir, is it your understanding that 10 A. My attormey was being -- asking
11 as part of this transaction that the operating |11 questions. I was doing my own due diligence.
12  agreement was amended? Is that correct? | 12 Q. My question was a little different.
13 A. I have no idea. 13 A. Go ahead.
14 Q. Do you know whether you, or by and 14 Q. Other than your attorney, was there
15 through your entities, control 100 percent of 15 anyone else conducting due diligence on
16 FlightLevel Norwood, LLC? 16 FlightLevel Norwood on your behalf?
17 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. l17 A. No outside parties --
18 A. I believe my entities control 100 percent | 18 Q. So --
19 of FlightLevel Norwood's lease. Yes. 19 A. -- that I'm aware of.
20 BY MR. FEE: 20 Q. And you don't know whether your attorney
21 Q. Does anyone else have any ownership 21 met with members of the Norwood Airport
22 interest in FlightLevel Norwood, LLC, that you're |22 Commission or the airport manager. Is that fair
23  aware of? 23  to say?
24 MR. HARTZELL: It's your memory. 24 A. That's correct.
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1 Q. Okay. So I just want to ask you about 1 Q. So you're pointing to a hangar that's
2 RadloS6. Do you know who MII Aviation Services, I 2  located -- )
3 LIC, is? |3 A. No. Actually, it's another hangar over
4 A. No, I do not. 4 here. I'msorry. I told you I don't know A from
5 Q. Would it refresh your recollection if I | 5 B from G.
6 told you it was owned by Moshe Yanai? ‘ 6 Q. There was a party at the airport?
T A. If you tell me that, yes. I didn't know 7 A. Yes.
8 he was MII, but yes. 8 Q. And what was the occasion?
9 Q. I'm drawing your attention to Schedule ‘ 9 A. I think we were having -- an open house
10  3.7B where it states MII Aviation Services, LLC. |10 for NetJets was the purpose of our party.
11 Do you see that? 11 Q. And --
12 A. Yes, I do. | 12 A. They were NetJets customers and whatever.
13 Q. Do you know that MII Aviation Services, ‘ 13 They brought their jets in.
14 LIC, is a tenant of FlightLevel in Hangar G? | 14 Q. And do you know when this party took
15 A. I don't know what Hangar G is. 15 place?
16 Q. Do you know that Moshe Yanai's company, |16 A. September 6th, I believe, of 2017.
17 MII Aviation, is a tenant of FlightLevel? ‘ 17 Q. You have a very strong recollection of
18 A. I wasn't aware he was paying me rent. 18 that date.
19 Q. Do you know -- did you ever learn of 19 A. Certain things. It was in that area,
20 FlightLevel's plans to evict Mr. Yanai's company |20 yes.
21  from the airport? ! 21 Q. So in September of 2017, was this the
22 A. I am not aware of that. 22 first time that you had visited the airport?
23 Q. Are you aware of -- did you become aware | 23 A. No.
24 of, at any time, FlightLevel's plans to evict 24 Q. When was the first time you had visited
- o o Page 63 o - o ~ Page 65
1 Boston Executive Helicopters from its rented unit | 1 the airport?
2 in -- 2 A. I'd been standing outside the gates
3 A. No, I have not. 3  watching airplanes take off for 20 years prior.
4 Q. -- Lot G? 4 Q. When was the first time you visited the
5 A. Just there's some non-rent-payer that -- S airport in comnection with the acquisition of an
6 I don't know their name. That's the only one I'm | 6 interest in FlightLevel Norwood?
7 aware of. 7 A. It would be a meeting with Peter in
8 Q. Based on the Schedule 3.17 that I've 8 probably July or somewhere in that time frame of
9  shown you, you had no knowledge and you have no | 9  2016.
10 knowledge of FlightLevel Norwood's plans to evict | 10 Q. And did you have your meetings typically
11 either -- 11 at the airport when you were discussing potential
12 A. I -- |12 acquisition?
13 Q. Let me finish the question. 13 A. No. I think we had just one phone
14 -- either Boston Executive Helicopters or 14 call -- excuse me -- just one meeting here and
15 Mr. Yanai's company? 15 the rest were done by phone.
16 A. No. I probably would not have thought I |16 Q. And did you have any other occasion to
17 could write Mr. Yanai a letter if I was trying to \ 17  wvisit the airport prior to the party in September
18  kick him out of here. 118 of 20172
19 Q. Okay. Now, after the transaction in 19 A. Once I took over the investment in the
20 December of 2016, did you have -- when is the i 20 lease, I came by once a week or once every other
21 first time you had any interactions with members |21 week.
22 of the Norwood Airport Commission? 22 Q. And is that still your practice today?
23 A. Probably the first time we met was, I 23 A. I'd like to continue that practice, yes.
24  think, in this hangar over here. We had a party. 24 If I was well, I'd be here once or twice a week,
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1 yes. But I travel a lot also so there's times 1 airport commission that you had acquired a 100
2 I'm -- or used to travel. Excuse me. 2 percent ownership interest in FlightLevel?
3 Q. What was the occasion for the party? You | 3 A. No.
4 said NetJets. |4 MR. HARTZELL: Slow down. Objection. Go
5 A. NetJdets was coming here, and we wanted to 5 ahead.
6 show off NetJets as a large customer and do a 6 A. I'm a trusting individual and I had my
7  relationship -- increase our relationship and let | 7 representation, and I believe they did everything
8 them use our facilities and let them -- and we ‘ 8 that was necessary to keep everything the way it
9 had another company in Tradewind and we had a -- 9  should be.
10 we were trying to increase our business and show ‘ 10 BY MR. FEE:
11 off -- bring customers in, high-net-worth i 11 Q. So you had no understanding, one way or
12  individuals, to meet charter companies. |12 another, as to whether or not your acquisition of
13 Q. And who did you meet from the Norwood 13  an ownership interest in FlightLevel had been
14 Airport Commission at the party? 14 communicated to the Norwood Airport Commission.
15 A. I believe Mr. Ryan. 15 1Is that fair to say?
16 Q. Anyone else? 16 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
1% A. There may have been another person at i 17 A. I believe they knew I was involved
18 that time, but I didn't know their names or what |18 somehow in the lease.
19 they locked like. l 19 BY MR. FEE:
‘
20 Q. At that time did you introduce yourself |20 Q. How did they know?
21 as the new owner of FlightLevel? 21 A. Possibly when the legal -- Peter,
22 MR. HARTZEIL: Objection. 122 somebody might have told them, but T didn't tell
23 A. I basically said hello to them. ‘ 23 them.
24 24 Q. Okay. Did you play any role whatsoever
o Page 67 | fa— ~ Page69
1 BY MR. FEE: 1 in the assignment of interest in FlightlLevel
2 Q. I'm just wondering what their 2 leaseholds -- I'm sorry -- the consent to the
3 understanding was of your role. I mean, did they | 3 assignment of Flightlevel leaseholds by the
4 know that you had acquired an interest in 4  Norwood Airport Commission?
5 FlightLevel Norwood? 5 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
6 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 6 A. I didn't understand the question, so I
7 BY MR. FEE: 7 apologize.
8 Q. Did you tell them? 8 BY MR. FEE:
9 A. I never introduced myself as the owner. 9 Q. Strike that. Let me rephrase it.
10 I'm very quiet. Peter runs the place and Mike 10 Do you have an understanding that as part
11 runs the place and I mind my business. 11 of the requirements of lease agreements that
12 BY MR. FEE: 12 FlightLevel's a party to, consent to transfer is
13 Q. So was it ever disclosed at the party |13 required by the lessor? Do you understand that?
14 that you had acquired a 100 percent ownership 14 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
15 interest in -- 15 A. I was not understanding that there was a
16 A. Ican't -- 16 change in the leasehold that owned the airport.
17 BY MR. FEE: 17 BY MR. FEE:
18 Q. -- in FlightLevel Norwood? 18 Q. Okay.
19 MR. HARTZELL: Slow down. Objection. 19 A. That owned the lease.
20 A. I can't tell you that answer. I'm not | 20 Q. Was it your understanding that no consent
21 aware of that. : 21 by any governmental party was required to -- in
22  BY MR. FEE: ‘ 22 comnection with your acquisition of an ownership
23 Q. Do you know if at any time you discussed | 23  interest in FlightLevel Norwood?
24  with Mr. Eichleay the utility of informing the | 24 MR. HARTZELL: Objection.
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E A. Legal advice told me how to go about my 1 sorry -- the ARR entities' acquisition of a
2 business. 2 membership interest in FlightLevel?
3 BY MR. FEE: 3 MR. HARTZELL: I would just caution the
4 Q. I'm asking you what your personal 4 witness that if you had communications with
5 understanding of it was. 5 counsel at FlightLevel, that would be privileged.
6 A. From legal advice. ‘ 6 But if you had communications outside of counsel,
7 Q. Right. And so again I'll ask you: Do i 7 those would not be privileged. Arguably not be
8 you have any understanding as to whether or not a 8 privileged.
9 consent by the Norwood Airport Commission was 9 A. BAs this came from my counsel, then I feel

10 required in comnection with any aspect of your /10 I shouldn't answer the question.

11 acquisition of and ownership interest in 11 BY MR. FEE:

12  FlightLevel Norwood? 12 Q. Let me phrase it a different way. Did

13 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 13  you have communications with anyone at

14 A. I'm not aware of it. 14 FlightLevel, other than counsel, regarding

15 BY MR. FEE: 15 disclosure of an ownership interest in

16 Q. Okay. Do you know whether, at any time, |16 FlightLevel by the ARR entities?

17 FlightLevel Norwood advised the Norwood Airport 17 A. That would only be done -- to the best of

18 Commission that you had -- or ARR had acquired 118 my recollection, it would only have been done

19 any ownership interest in FlightLevel Norwood? 19 with my counsel's advice.

20 A. I would have to make an assumption that |20 Q. Okay.

21  they did. 21 A. I had contact with my counsel, intermal

22 Q. Okay. 22 counsel.

23 A. But you never gave me a time frame | 23 Q. So you said you hadn't seen this letter

24  either. | 2¢ before today; is that right?

[ - Page 71| S — ‘Page 73
1 Q. I'm happy to give you -- 1 A. March 13, 2018. So this was just put out
2 A. Because I'm sure there's a period of time | 2 six months ago. I don't know the purpose of this
3 in which they knew because I had met with them. | 3 on March 13, 2018, for something that happened in
4 Q. Understood. I'm going to show you a 4 2016. So I don't even understand what's going on
5 document that's been marked as Exhibit 542 to the | 5 here.

6 Ryan deposition. It appears to be a letter from | 6 Q. Okay. So my gquestion was: Have you seen
7 Mr. Burlingham to the Norwood Airport Commission | 7 this letter before today?

8 disclosing the acquisition of a membership 8 A. No. I've never seen this document

9 interest by ARR entities. Have you seen this 9 before.

10 document before? |10 Q. Ckay.

11 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 11 (Exhibit No. 599 marked for

12 A. No. I have not seen this document. |12  identification.)

13 BY MR. FEE: 13 BY MR. FEE:

14 Q. Did you have any discussion with anyone 14 Q. I'm showing you a document that's been

15 at FlightLevel regarding the -- disclosing to the : 15 marked as Radlo599. It appears to be a letter

16 Norwood Airport Commission that ARR entities had ! 16 dated April 2, 2018, to Flightlevel from the

17 acquired an interest in FlightLevel? | 17 manager of the Norwood Memorial Airport. Why

18 A. They're my legal counsel. I trusted them 18 don't you just take a look at it. I'll ask you a

19 to do what was appropriate. Whether this is 19 question.

20 appropriate or not appropriate, I don't know. 20 A. Okay. So that's what this is in

21 Q. I'm not asking you if it's appropriate. 21 reference to?

22 I'm asking you if you had any discussions with |22 Q. It appears -- the document that I've

23  anyone at FlightLevel regarding disclosure to the 23 shown you appears to include an attachment

24  Norwood Airport Commission regarding your -- I'm i24 which -- of the previously marked Exhibit 542.
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1 So have you had a chance to lock at it? 1 Airport Commission?
2 A. So that's the same. I have some 2 A. Probably nothing.
3 understanding what this is about. 3 Q. 1It's your understanding that no financial
“ Q. My question is: Have you seen this 4 information regarding ARR Aviation or ARR
5 before? S Aviation II, LLC, was provided to the Norwood
6 A. I have not seen this document, no. 6 Airport Commission. Is that fair to say?
7 Q. Have you had any discussions with anyone 7 A. It's fair to say that they received
8 at FlightLevel other than Mr. Burlingham ‘ 8 something.
9 regarding the Norwood Airport Commission's 9 Q. Well, let's look at the letter that's in
10 request that ARR and FlightLevel -- strike that. |10 front of you. 599.
11 That FlightLevel Norwood provide 11 A. Yes.
12 financial information? 12 Q. It appears to be seeking information
13 A. This is strictly between myself and 13 regarding Flightlevel Norwood. Is that fair to
14 counsel. 14  say?
15 Q. Okay. And is that counsel ‘ 15 A. Yes.
16 Mr. Burlingham? ‘ 16 Q. And so my question -- and it is your
17 A. Yes. 17 understanding that FlightLevel Norwood responded
18 Q. Did you have any discussions with 18 to this request for information.
19 Mr. Eichleay about the Norwood Airport ‘ 19 A. Yes.
20 Commission's request that financial information 20 Q. And provided financial information
21 be provided regarding your -- I'm sorry -- the 21 regarding Flightlevel Norwood.
22 ARR entities' acquisition of a membership 22 A. That is correct.
23 interest in FlightLevel Norwood? 23 Q. And it's also your understanding that no
24 A. Other than being at a commission meeting | 24 financial information regarding ARR or ARR
e E—— Page 75 | ~ Page77
1 where this was asked of us and then I turned this | 1 Aviation II, LLC, was provided to the NAC at any
2 over to my in-house counsel to take care of. 2 time. Is that fair to say?
3 Q. Did -- 3 A. To the best of my recollection, yes.
4 A. So he may have been at that meeting 4 Q. And to the best of your recollection, is
5 conceivably. 5 it fair to say that no perscnal financial
6 Q. Do you know if it was ever requested of 6 information -- Allan Radlo personal financial
|
7 you that you provide a perscnal financial 7 information -- was requested by the NAC or
8 statement? 8 provided?
9 A. Not that I'm aware of. 9 A. Not that I'm aware of.
10 Q. Was it ever requested by the Norwood 1 10 Q. Okay. Now, were you present -- when did
11 Airport Commission that you provide income tax 11 you start to go to -- strike that.
12 returns? 12 Have you attended any NAC meetings?
13 A. Not that I'm aware of. 13 A. Yes.
14 Q. Was it ever requested by the Norwood 14 Q. And when?
15 Airport Commission that you provide a personal 15 A. I probably started in -- 2018 is probably
16 guarantee? |16  when T started attending the meetings.
17 .A. Not that I'm aware of. 17 Q. Do you remember --
18 Q. Did the Norwood Airport Commission ever 18 A. It's quite possible I was at the November
19 ask you to provide any financial information 19 meeting or December, but it probably wasn't
20 regarding ARR Aviation or ARR Aviation II, LLC? 20 until -- maybe the end of 2017 is when I started
21 A. I believe this would be in reference to 21 attending.
22 that. Yes. 22 Q. And do you attend them on a regular
23 Q. And what, if any, information regarding 23  basis?
24 ARR and ARR II was provided to the Norwood | 24 A. When I'm in town, yes.
|
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1 Q. And so your recollection is at or about 1 understanding of that. How did he gain -- what
2 the time that you acquired -- that ARR acquired 2 did you tell Mr. Ryan regarding your commitment
3 its interest in FlightLevel Norwood that that's 3 to the airport?
4 when you started attending meetings. Is that 4 A. I've had a meeting with Mr. Ryan and my
5 fair to say? 5 counsel.
6 MR. HARTZELL: Objection. 6 THE WITNESS: That's public information.
7 A. No. It's not fair to say. As I said, it 7 Correct?
8 was probably somewhere towards the end of 2017 8 BY MR. FEE:
9 when I started attending meetings. } 9 Q. TEEE.
10 BY MR. FEE: 110 MR. HARTZELL: Yes.
11 Q. I'm sorry. I misheard you. |11 A. And T discussed that I wanted to commit
12 A. That's okay. 12 capital to this airport and make it grow. I
13 Q. So sometime after you executed the LOI, 13 didn't want it to become Marlborough Airport and
14 your recollection is that you attended a Norwood | 14 just have five propeller planes there.
15 Airport Commission meeting. Is that fair to say? |15 Q. When did you have that meeting with
16 A. The IOI was signed in 2016, and I didn't |16 Mr. Ryan?
17 start attending meetings for probably a year and |17 A. Probably in --
18 a half after that. ‘ 18 THE WITNESS: Would you say the end of
19 Q. I understand now. All right. 19 2017? You were there.
20 So -- 20 MR. HARTZELL: Mr. Radlo, you have to
21 A. There are sign-in sheets so they'll know. |21 answer the question based on your memory.
22 I can't tell you exactly when I -- .22 THE WITNESS: Thank you, sir.
23 Q. I know about the sign-in sheets. 23 MR. HARTZELL: Off the record.
24 So September of 2017 -- 24 (Discussion off the record.)
- ~ Page79 ~ Page81
1 A. Is my estimate of -- maybe I went in May. 1 A. It may have been the end of 2017.
2 I just don't remember going. 2 BY MR. FEE:
3 Q. I'mgoing to show you a document that's 3 Q. Was it at or about the time that you saw
4  been marked previously as Exhibit 540. 4 Mr. Ryan at the party?
5 A. Thank you. | & A. No. T had seen him much prior to that
6 Q. It appears to be the meeting minutes of | 6 and, again, I don't know what his recommitment
7  the Norwood Airport Commission meeting, 7 here -- I didn't commit anything.
8 January 10, 2018. I just draw your attention | 8 Q. When was the first time that you met
9 to the second page, under "New Business," second 9 Mr. Ryan? You said it was at the party.
10  full paragraph. It says: | 10 A. I think I said hello to him
11 "Welcome to Allan Radlo, owner of ! 11 September 6, 2017.
12 FlightLevel, recognized for its commitment to the |12 Q. When was the next time you saw him?
13 [airport ) 513 A. The next time I saw him is -- I saw some
14 Do you see that? 14 underprivileged children in the rain, and I
15 A. Yes. 15 wanted to do something so kids didn't have to
16 Q. So having searched the meeting minutes, 16 stand in the rain with their parents. 2nd I
17 this is the first time I've seen your name come |17 talked to him about doing something with
18 up. Does this refresh your recollection as to | 18 landscaping.
19 when you began to attend Norwood Airport -- 19 Q. When was that?
20 A. I'll say again I did not attend for quite |20 A. Probably that fall of 2017, I imagine.
21 a wnile. So if this is the first time it shows I21 Q. Soiis iEi==idid“--
22 up, then fine. 22 A. It might have been earlier.
23 Q. Understood. And I want to ask you about |23 Q. So you reached --
24 your commitment to the airport and Mr. Ryan's 24 A. Probably wasn't until after September of
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